ADDIY M WATERIS
APRIL M. WATKINS APPELLANT
VS.
JEREMY R. WATKINS APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF ALCORN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Amy D. Saling MSB N Waller & Waller, Attorneys Post Office Box 4 220 South President Street Jackson, Mississippi 39205 (601) 354-5252 Attorney for the Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

CIVIL CAUSE NO.: 2009-CA-01701
APRIL M. WATKINS APPELLANT
vs.
JEREMY R. WATKINS APPELLEE
The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interes
in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- The Chancery Court erred in its Opinion and Judgment Dated August 14, 2009 and Final Judgment Dated September 21, 2009 Awarding Jeremy Watkins Primary Physical Custody of the Minor Children.
 - A. The Court gave improper consideration of April Watkins' disability when determining primary physical custody of the minor children by overemphasizing the mother's disability without adequate consideration of other relevant factors.
 - B. The Court gave improper consideration of alleged abuse by the paternal grandfather when determining primary physical custody of the minor children by disregarding compelling evidence of that abuse and finding no sexual abuse occurred.
 - a. The Court gave improper credence to the Report and Supplemental Report of the Guardian Ad Litem when determining who should be awarded primary physical custody of the minor children and did not give proper credence to the testimony of DHS investigators and case workers who conducted extensive investigations and interviews regarding the minor children.
 - C. The Chancellor Erred as a Matter of Law in Failing to Make Appropriate Findings as to Each Factor under *Albright*, and the Chancellor's Opinion and Judgment and Final Judgment Should Be Reversed and This Court Should Render an Opinion as to Custody of the Minor Children.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 28, 2008, Appellant, April M. Watkins, filed her Complaint for Divorce on the grounds of Habitual, Cruel and Inhuman Treatment as set forth in Miss. Code of 1972 as Ann., and amended, Sect 93-5-1 et seq.; or in the alternative on the statutory ground of Irreconcilable Differences as set forth in Miss. Code of 1972 as Ann., and amended, Sect. 93-5-2 et seq. (R.1, R.E. 046). On that same day, a Rule 4 Summons and Rule 81 Summons was issued for Jeremy R. Watkins. The Complaint for Divorce was served and returnable on June 18, 2008. An Order for Trial Setting was filed on June 2, 2008 setting the temporary hearing for June 18, 2008. (R. 7, R.E. 047).

On June 30, 2008, Appellee, Jeremy R. Watkins filed an Answer and Counter-Complaint on the grounds of Habitual, Cruel and Inhuman Treatment as set forth in Miss. Code of 1972 as Ann., and amended, Sect 93-5-1 et seq.; or in the alternative on the statutory ground of Irreconcilable Differences as set forth in Miss. Code of 1972 as Ann., and amended, Sect. 93-5-2 et seq. (R.1, R.E. 046).

On June 20, 2008, Appellee, Jeremy R. Watkins filed a Waiver of Process and Entry of Appearance. (R. 18, R.E. 048).

On June 30, 2008, Chancellor, Talmadge D. Littlejohn, entered his Order of Recusal from the case. (R. 19, R.E. 049).

On July 28, 2008, Appellant, April M. Watkins filed her Answer to Appellee's Counter-Complaint. (R. 20-23, R.E.050-053).

On August 13, 2008, there was a hearing in this matter which resulted in a Temporary Agreement.

On September 11, 2008 a Temporary Order was entered granting the following:

- a. April Watkins shall have the primary care, custody and control of the parties' minor children, Kelsie Dawn Watkins and Alexander Rafe Watkins.
- b. The Defendant, Jeremy Watkins, shall have visitation with the children every other weekend from 7:00 p.m. on Friday until 7:00 p.m. on the following Sunday, beginning with Friday, August 15, 2008, and continuing every other weekend thereafter until further order of this Court.
- c. The parties shall exchange the children at the beginning and end of the visitation provided for herein, at a point which is approximately halfway between the residence of the Plaintiff, in Leoma, Tennessee, and the Defendant, in Corinth, Mississippi, said point being Hardee's restaurant at the intersection of Highway 72 and Highway 43 in Muscle Shoals, Alabama.
- d. In the event that the Plaintiff is unable to obtain the assistance of someone to deliver and pickup the children at the meeting point specified herein, she shall notify the Defendant that he will need to make arrangements for all transportation for that weekend and Plaintiff will make every effort to give him that notice at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance. In the event she is unable to deliver and pickup the children on any given weekend as provided herein, the Defendant shall receive a credit for \$50.00 toward his child support obligation.
- e. The Defendant will not expose his children to the children's paternal grandfather, Ralph Watkins, and he shall not entrust his children to anyone who will expose the children to Ralph Watkins during visitation or otherwise.
- f. The Defendant shall pay to the Plaintiff, as child support, the sum of \$232.55 per week, and said amount shall be paid beginning with Friday, August 15, 2008, and thereafter shall be paid on each Friday thereafter until further order of the Court,
- g. The Defendant shall continue to maintain medical insurance for the benefit of the parties' children, and he will make the co-payments, if any, for their medical treatment. The Defendant will provide Plaintiff with all cards and other documents she will need to obtain medical treatment.
- h. The parties will apply for coverage through both the Defendant's insurance, through his place of employment, and TennCare, in an effort to reduce or eliminate medical expenses for the children.

- i. The Defendant shall have the exclusive use and possession of the parties' marital home in Alcorn County, Mississippi, and he shall pay the mortgage and all of the expenses associated with the maintenance and repair of that property, as and when due.
- j. There are two automobiles owned by the Defendant, which are in his father's name. The Defendant shall pay any indebtedness on said automobiles as and when due.
- k. The parties are affirmatively enjoined from disposing of any property pending final hearing of this cause.
- The Plaintiff shall be entitled to the clothing and personal effects of the children which remain in the marital home, and the Defendant shall have access and use of said clothing and personal effects for visitation. The children will also be allowed to move their toys between the homes of their parents as they so desire.
- m. The Plaintiff is awarded the exclusive use and possession of her power wheelchair charger, her bookshelf, her second wheelchair, the Nintendo charger, the plastic table and chairs from the deck and to one-half of the dishes, pots, pans and flatware. In the alternative, the Defendant may provide the Plaintiff with suitable replacements for one-half of the dishes, pots, pans and flatware.
- n. The front porch rocking chairs, the children's television set and the DVD players, as well as all of the other personal property not itemized herein, shall remain the possession of the Defendant until further hearing.
- o. The Defendant shall hold, uncashed, the tax stimulus or refund check in the sum of \$1,800 pending further hearing in this cause.
- p. In all domestic cases involving custody or visitation of minors, and even though no order of custody or visitation may have been entered, each party shall keep the other informed of his/her full address, including state, city, street, house number and telephone number, if available, unless excused in writing by the Court. Within five days of a party subject to this rule, changing his or her address, he or she shall, so long as the children remain minors, notify in writing the Clerk of the Court, Bobby Marolt, Chancery Clerk of Alcorn County, with has entered the order providing for custody and visitation of his/ her full new address and shall furnish the other party a copy of such notice. The notice shall include the Court file number. The Clerk shall docket and file such notice in the cause. Every order respecting custody or visitation should contain a provision incorporating the terms and requirements of above. The purpose of this rule is to

prevent a parent from concealing from others the address and whereabouts of the children. Willful failure to comply with this rule may be treated as a contempt. Failure to file with the Clerk the notice required by this rule shall create a rebuttable presumption that written notice was not given to the other party.

q. All matters not specifically added herein are held in abeyance pending final hearing. (R. 41-45, R.E. 054-058)

On January 6, 2009, The Plaintiff filed a Motion for Leave to Amend and attached as Exhibit 1, an Amended Complaint. (R. 85-94, R.E. 059-067).

On February 20, 2009, the parties filed a Consent to Divorce on the Ground of Irreconcilable Differences. However, in said Consent the parties left the following issues to the Court to decide: 1. Custody of the parties children; 2. The non-custodial parent's visitation rights; 3. The restrictions, if any, to be placed upon contact with the children's paternal grandparents, Ralph and Darlene Watkins; 4. Determination of marital property and division of that property; 5. The parties' responsibilities for the debts they have incurred; 6. Child Support; 7. Medical insurance for the children; 8. Alimony; and 9. Attorney's fees. (R. 112-114, R.E. 068-070)

On April 2, 2009, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Citation for Contempt regarding the

On April 2, 2009, the Plaintiff filed a Motion for Citation for Contempt regarding the Defendant's refusal to pay child support. (R. 126, R.E.071)

On May 7-8, 2009 the Parties returned to Court for hearing on all issues that the parties could not agree.

On April 22, 2009, the Defendant filed his Answer to Motion for Citation of Contempt. (R. 129-132, R.E. 072-075).

On May 22, 2009, The Court entered an Order Appointing Rhonda N. Allred as the Guardian Ad Litem. (R. 145, R.E. 076)

On June 19, 2009 the parties returned to Court as a continuation of the hearing which

began on May 7, 2009. This case was again adjourned and continued to July 20, 2009.

On July 24, 2009, the Guardian Ad Litern filed her report with the Court and per an Order of the Court, the Judge directed the Guardian Ad Litern to file another Supplemental Report as the initial reports did not address all the concerns of the parties. On July 27, 2009, the Guardian Ad Litern filed her Supplemental Report. (R. 147-163, 164-169, R.E. 077-093, 094-099).

The Court allowed an additional day, August 6, 2009, to question the Guardian Ad Litem on her report.

On August 14, 2009, the Court entered it's thirty-three (33) page Opinion and Judgment in this matter. (R. 181-213, R.E. 005-037).

On August 24, 2009, the Plaintiff filed a Motion to Reconsider and on August 25, 2009, the Court entered an Order Granting Additional Time for Plaintiff to File and Provide New Evidence. (R. 215-220, R.E. 100-105).

On September 21, 2009, the Court entered it's Final Judgment and denied the Plaintiff's request for a new trial, reconsideration, or other relief. (R. 235-242, R.E. 038-045).

On October 19, 2009, the Plaintiff filed her Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court and on October 28, 2009, filed the Certificate of Compliance. (R. 249-250, R.E. 106-107).

2. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

April D. Watkins is an adult resident citizen of Lawrenceburg, Tennessee and Jeremy R. Watkins is an adult resident citizen of Alcorn County, Mississippi. They were married on October 13, 2001 in Lauderdale County, Alabama and were separated on or about May 23, 2008 in Alcorn County. There were two (2) children born of said union, namely Alexander Rafe Watkins (a/k/a Xander), born on May 10, 2002 and Kelsi Dawn Watkins, born on March 13,

2003. (R. 1, R.E. 046).

While there were multiple issues ruled upon at the divorce hearing in this matter; the issue of this appeal is the Chancery Court's error in it's Judgment awarding Jeremy Watkins primary physical custody of the parties minor children. More specifically, the court gave improper consideration to the disability of April Watkins by overemphasizing the mother's disability without adequate consideration of other relevant factors and gave improper consideration to the alleged abuse allegations by disregarding compelling evidence as to said abuse. The Court also gave improper credence to the Guardian Ad Litem's report and supplemental reports and did not give proper credence to the testimony of DHS investigators and case workers who conducted extensive investigations and interviews regarding the minor children.

A. Disability of April Watkins

April Watkins is a healthy, 30 year old, mother. She was in a car accident on October 19, 1996 when she was 17 years old. (T. 20, R.E. 109). As a result of the car accident she uses a wheelchair as an incomplete paraplegic and suffers from an optic nerve condition which affects her eyesight. April is able to walk and/or stand for short periods of time with the assistance of a walker or other object to hold on to, but because of her eyesight is unable to drive (T 21, R.E. 110). She testified that she can see well enough to read to the kids and can read even better with a magnifying glass. (T. 77, R.E. 115). She remains hopeful that there will soon be a treatment and/or operation for her optic nerve condition to enable her to drive again. April has adapted to her way of life and learned how to adjust her surroundings so that she can function much like anyone else. April had this condition when she married Jeremy in 2001and Jeremy was aware of the limitations that April had at that time. In spite of her disability April carried to full term and

gave birth to their two (2) children Alexander Rafe Watkins (Xander), born on May 10, 2002 and Kelsi Dawn Watkins, born on March 14, 2003. From the time that the children were born until the date of the final hearing in this matter, April took care of the minor children. (T. 23, R.E. 112). During this time Jeremy was working forty (40) to sixty (60) or more hours per week. At the time of separation he was working day shifts leaving the home at around 4:00 a.m and returning home around 5:30 p.m. (T. 24, R.E. 113). While the children were little and before they attended school, April was the only one home with the children on a regular basis. (T.24, R.E. 113). April has always been surrounded with family, friends, and other individuals who could assist with transportation of the children when needed and she has never had a problem in this regard. (T. 26, R.E. 114). April testified that she has many grandparents, aunts, uncles, cousins and other family members who live around her in Lawrenceburg, Tennessee that are available to assist with transportation of her and her children and her sister is only ten (10) minutes away. While April had temporary custody of the children, the kids were transported to school by the school bus. (T. 79, R.E. 117). April testified at the hearing in this matter that she is able to take care of the kids and clean the house. (T. 77, R.E. 115). She can stand to do laundry and do dishes and anything else she needs to stand to do but for the most part she sits in the chair. (T. 78, R.E. 116).

When considering the Albright factors, the court relied heavily on the fact that the children's best interest and safety would somehow be jeopardized by April's disability and in turn penalized April when her disability had not been shown to adversely affect the welfare of the minor children. (R. 181, R.E. 005). However, the same court gave April temporary custody of the parties' minor children in the interim period while this case was going on. In the final hearing, the court gave improper consideration to the disability of April Watkins when

determining physical custody of the minor children.

B. Abuse Allegations by Paternal Grandfather

Prior to the divorce proceedings, there were two (2) alleged incidents of sexual abuse concerning the parties minor child, Kelsi Dawn Watkins by her paternal grandfather, Ralph Watkins. There was testimony to this subject by several family members, DHS investigators as well as a court appointed guardian ad litern who subsequently filed an initial report and supplemental report. Laura Michael, April Watkin's mother, testified that shortly before Kelsi's second birthday in 2005, Kelsi disclosed to her that her Pops touches her pee pee. Kelsi and Xander were visiting with Laura Michael and Ricky Michael, their maternal grandparents, when Kelsi disclosed this abuse to Laura. Laura was changing Kelsi's diaper when she told her that "this is your pee pee and no one is supposed to ever touch you down there, and if they ever do, just tell Nana, and Nana will get them." Laura testified that after she said this, Kelsi replied, "Pops does". Pops is Kelsi and Xander's paternal grandfather, Ralph Watkins. Laura went on to testify that Kelsi demonstrated for her what Pops does by taking her index finger and putting her finger in her vaginal area, picking up her finger, and stating "Pops does this" and put her finger in her mouth. (T. 302, R.E. 131). Ricky Michael also testified that Kelsi told him and demonstrated to him the exact same thing immediately following the disclosure to his wife. (T. 407, R.E. 134). During this same visit, Laura Michael testified that Xander tried to position himself over Kelsi in an inappropriate manner while she was bathing the kids. (T. 308, R.E. 132). After this happened, Laura testified that she pulled Xander off of Kelsi and stated "Don't do that, did somebody show you how to do that?". Xander stated that Pops showed him that. Laura asked him if Gan-Gan, (the children's paternal grandmother, Darlene Watkins), knew and Xander said "uh-huh and Gan-Gan says Pops don't do that any more". Laura informed April of the children's

allegations and when the children returned home, Kelsi told Jeremy and April the same story that she told Laura and Ricky. (T. 97, R.E. 120) At that time April and Jeremy confronted Ralph and Darlene Watkins about the allegations and they were adamantly denied by Ralph. Jeremy and April had a friend who is a nurse come over to their house and examine Kelsi. From her exam, the nurse could not tell if anything had happened.

The allegations resurfaced in December of 2007 when Kelsi disclosed to April that Pops touches her all the time and again demonstrating by putting her hand on her pee pee and rubbing it. April testified that she asked Kelsi what she says when he does this and Kelsi stated "I say quit doing that but he doesn't quit because he just loves doing it". April and Jeremy again confronted Ralph and Darlene about the allegations and they were again denied. As this was the second time that Kelsi brought up the same allegations, April called the Sheriff's Office and in turn DHS became involved in a full investigation. Sarah Hall was the social worker assigned to the case and Jill Franks was the forensic investigator who interviewed Kelsi and Xander regarding the alleged abuse. The DHS file and reports are incorporated into the record herein and were made available to the attorneys and Judge in the initial hearing and the forensic examiner, Jill Franks, testified as to her findings and her reports. The case against Ralph Watkins was taken to the grand jury but no indictment was issued. Given all the evidence and testimony that was presented at the hearings in this matter and all the documentation that was made available to the court by DHS, the court relied heavily on a court appointed guardian ad litem's report and supplemental report when determining physical custody of the minor children and visitation restrictions of the paternal grandfather.

The lower court erred in it's Judgment awarding Jeremy Watkins primary physical custody of the minor children, and more specifically the court gave improper consideration to the

disability of April Watkins by overemphasizing the mother's disability without adequate consideration of other relevant factors and gave improper consideration of alleged abuse by disregarding compelling evidence as to that abuse. The Court also gave improper credence to the Guardian Ad Litem's report and supplemental reports and did not give proper credence to the testimony of DHS investigators and case workers who conducted extensive investigations and interviews regarding the minor children.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The standard of review for this case is substantial evidence. We submit the long-standing principle of appellate law dealing with the decision on the facts by the Chancellor which rule is set out in the 2009 case of *Webb*, et al. v. Drewrey, et al., 4 So.3d 1078 (2007-CA-01935 SCT) (Miss. App. 2009) [affirmed 02-24-09], which states:

In a bench trial, the chancellor is the finder of fact and, thus, solely determines the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the evidence. This court gives great deference to a chancellor's finding of facts. Therefore, we will not disturb the finding of the chancellor when supported by substantial evidence **unless** the chancellor abused her discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied.

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