# 2009-CA-0170/E

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. April M. Watkins, Appellant
- 2. Jeremy R. Watkins, Appellee
- 3. Amy D. Saling, attorney for Appellant
- 4. R. Shane McLaughlin, attorney for Appellee
- 5. Nicole H. McLaughlin, attorney for Appellee

R. Shane McLaughlin

Attorney of record for Appellee

#

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

Next, April ostensibly complains that the Chancellor committed clear error when he found that Ralph Watkins had not abused the minor child and that the allegations against him were patently false. April also claims that the Chancellor placed too much reliance on the guardian *ad litem's* report in this regard.

April's arguments are meritless. There was overwhelming evidence at trial that Ralph Watkins had not abused the child. The Chancellor was presented with evidence that medical examinations had revealed no findings indicative of abuse and every allegation of abuse involved instigation or interrogation by April or her mother. Further, there were no allegations between February 2005 and December 2007, when Ralph and his wife Darlene continued to care for the children frequently. Every witness with personal knowledge testified that Ralph had done nothing inappropriate. Ralph, who had cooperated with law enforcement and was never even charged with a crime, vehemently denied any abuse. Both local law enforcement and DHS ultimately closed all investigations into the matter.

There was ample, indeed overwhelming evidence to support the Chancellor's factual findings. Further, the Chancellor specifically stated that since he found that there had been no abuse based on the testimony and evidence at trial, he did not consider the guardian *ad litem's* reports. Accordingly, April's arguments are likewise misplaced in this regard.

Finally, April attacks each of the Chancellor's findings in the *Albright* analysis. Again, April does not, since she cannot, claim there was no evidence to support the findings. She simply disagrees with the findings and asks this Court to find differently.

The Chancellor's decision as to each of the *Albright* factors was supported by substantial evidence. There was no dispute at trial that Jeremy Watkins is a good father who loves his children. Jeremy was willing and able to take care of the children, maintained a stable home, a steady job, had a close network of family to assist with the children as needed and involves the children in various activities where April did not.

The Chancellor correctly applied the *Albright* factors in determining the best interests of the minor child, and properly awarded custody to Jeremy Watkins. April's arguments, at their best, simply dispute the weight the Chancellor afforded to the evidence. The Chancellor's findings are supported by substantial, indeed overwhelming, evidence in the record and are no abuse of discretion. Accordingly, the Chancellor's decision should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT I.

# THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR BY AWARDING JEREMY WATKINS CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILDREN.

Of course, the polestar consideration in making a custody determination must be the best interest of the child. *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983). The Court in *Albright* set out several factors which should be considered in determining the child's best interest. *Albright*, 437 So. 2d at 1005. However, as one commentator has noted "the difficult question of custody between two fit parents can never be reduced to a formula. Each case is different – judges are given great discretion to determine the arrangement that best serves the needs of a particular child." DEBORAH H. BELL, BELL ON MISSISSIPPI FAMILY LAW § 5.02 (1st ed. 2005).

A Chancellor should not place too much emphasis on any one *Albright* factor. *Jones v. Jones*, 19 So. 3d 775, 780 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009); *See also Brekeen v. Brekeen*, 880 So. 2d 280, 287 (Miss. 2004). Rather, the Court should evaluate all of the *Albright* factors as a whole. *Mayfield v. Mayfield*, 956 So. 2d 337, 347 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Contrary to Appellant's arguments, the Chancellor properly evaluated the *Albright* factors and awarded custody to Jeremy. The Chancellor viewed all of the factors, taken as a whole, in making his decision as to the best interests of the children. A summary of the Chancellor's *Albright* analysis is as follows:

- 1. Age of the children. Xander was a seven (7) year old male, Kelsi was a 6 year old female. The Court found that this factor favored neither party.
- 2. <u>Health and sex of the children</u>. The Court found that the continued attention, interrogation and endless accusations of sexual abuse involving Kelsi were detrimental to

- her best interests. Accordingly, the Court concluded that this factor "slightly favored" Jeremy.
- 3. Continuity of Care. The Court found that the children were frequently cared for by either their paternal grandparents or maternal grandmother prior to the separation. The Court found that April Watkins had provided primary care since the separation. The Court found that this factor favored neither party.
- 4. Parenting Skills and Willingness and Capacity to Provide Primary Care. The Court found that April pursuing the sexual abuse allegations against Ralph Watkins exhibited poor parenting skills. The Court also found that April had not allowed the children to participate in extra-curricular activities as Jeremy had. The Court concluded that April kept the children home watching television, instead of engaging in activities, so that she could more easily manage them. Thus, the Court found that this factor favored Jeremy.
- 5. <u>Employment Responsibilities of Parents</u>. The Court noted that April was not employed and that Jeremy was employed and often worked long hours. However, the Court found that Jeremy testified that he could modify his work hours to spend additional time with the children. The Court found that this factor favored Jeremy.
- 6. Physical and Mental Health of Parents. The Court found that Jeremy was thirty-one (31) years old and in good health. April was thirty (30) years old and confined to a wheelchair. Both parties were in good mental health. However, the Court also found that April was unduly controlled by her mother, Laura Michael. The Court found that as to physical and mental health, this factor favored Jeremy.

- Emotional Ties of Parents and Children. The Court found that both Parties loved the children and had close emotional ties. Thus, the Court found that this factor favored neither Party.
- 8. Moral Fitness. The Chancellor found that April was a stronger factor in the Children going to church and that this factor therefore favored April. This was the *only* factor which the Court found favored April.
- 9. Home, School and Community Record of Children. The Court found that the children were allowed more extra-curricular activities when in the care of Jeremy. April chose not to enroll the children in any activities. The Court found that this factor slightly favored Jeremy.
- 10. <u>Preference of Children</u>. The Court found this factor inapplicable as neither child was of age to express a preference.
- 11. <u>Stability of the Home Environment</u>. The Court found that Jeremy had a stable employment history and a stable residence since the Parties' separation. However, April had moved twice since the separation and was in financial distress. The Court found this factor favored Jeremy.
- 12. Other Factors. The Court found that April, through her mother's instigation, had continually kept the false allegations of sexual abuse at the forefront of Kelsi's life. The court found that the allegation was doubtlessly put into the child's mind by April and her mother Laura. The Court found that this, as an "other factor," favored Jeremy.

(See R. p. 186-91).

# A. <u>The Chancellor properly considered April's physical disability, but did not overemphasize this factor.</u>

Appellant simply argues that the Chancellor placed "too much emphasis" on her physical disabilities in its *Albright* analysis. Appellant then embarks on a diatribe tacitly accusing the Chancellor of disability discrimination. This argument flies in the face of the facts in the Record and the Chancellor's opinion in this case.

First of all, in ruling on April's post-trial Motion the Chancellor explained that he had not placed undue weight on April's disabilities. In fact, the Chancellor stated that "[t]he Plaintiff's disability . . . was *the least of the Albright factors* upon which a determination by the Court was made that the best interests of the children were to be with their Father." (R. p. 237) (emphasis added).

The undisputed proof at trial was that April Watkins was confined to a wheelchair, could only take a few steps on her own and was legally blind. April could not drive a vehicle and used a magnifying glass to read due to optic nerve damage. It would have been reversible error for the Court to have wholly ignored these physical limitations. A parent's physical and mental health is one of the twelve factors enumerated by the Supreme Court in *Albright*. *Albright* v. *Albright*, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1004 (Miss. 1983) (holding that "physical and mental health and age of the parents" should be considered in making a custody determination).

April admitted at trial that her physical limitations required her to rely on others and precluded her from some activities of parenting. April explained that she could not simply put her children into a car and take them somewhere. Rather, transportation had to be arranged through a third-party. April testified she would rely largely on her parents or other family who lived nearby. However, the undisputed proof showed that April's parents were over-the-road truck drivers who were often away for a month at a time.

In her Brief April relies on *Caswell v. Caswell*, 763 So. 2d 890, 892 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). In *Caswell* the father had sustained an on-the-job injury to his neck which resulted in neck surgeries and his taking of various medications. *Caswell*, 763 So. 2d at 892. However, the Record in *Caswell* established that the father's "disability did not prevent him from adequately being able to care for his children." *Id.* The Trial Court awarded custody to the father, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* at 895. The Court explained that "[r]egardless of what we would have held if we were the deciding judge, so long as the chancellor had a factual basis to ground his opinion and applied the correct legal standard we are not at liberty to intervene." *Id.* at 893.

Caswell offers no support to April and, in any event, is completely different from the facts of this case. In Caswell, the father's injury did not interfere with his ability to care for the children to any extent. In this case, April is unable to stand for any length of time, unable to walk any significant distance, is legally blind and cannot drive. Clearly, April's disability makes normal aspects of childcare more difficult. Her disability prevents her from transporting the children on her own and reduces the activities in which they can engage in their mother's care.

Moreover, the Court in *Caswell* did not hold that the father's disability should not be considered, but rather simply held that the Chancellor had not erred by awarding custody to the father after considering all of the *Albright* factors, including his physical condition. The father's injured condition was a consideration in *Caswell*. Since the Chancellor found that the father's condition did not impair his ability to care for the children, and as this finding was supported by evidence in the record, the Court properly affirmed the Chancellor's decision.

The fact that April was in a wheelchair and unable to drive was merely one factor properly considered by the Trial Court. The fact of April's disability and limitations is

established by the Record. The Court did not overemphasize this factor. In fact, the Court held that this factor was afforded the <u>least</u> weight in the *Albright* analysis.

April next refers the Court to two California cases: *In re Marriage of Carney*, 24 Cal. 3d 725, 736 (Cal. 1979) and *In re Marriage of Levin*, 102 Cal. App. 3d 981 (Cal. 1980). Yet, neither of these cases support her arguments either. For instance, the Court in *Carney* explained:

In particular, if a person has a physical handicap it is impermissible for the court simply to rely on that condition as prima facie evidence of the person's unfitness as a parent or of probable detriment to the child; rather, in all cases the court must view the handicapped person as an individual and the family as a whole. To achieve this, the court should inquire into the person's actual and potential physical capabilities, learn how he or she has adapted to the disability and manages its problems, consider how the other members of the household have adjusted thereto, and take into account the special contributions the person may make to the family despite -- or even because of -- the handicap. Weighing these and all other relevant factors together, the court should then carefully determine whether the parent's condition will in fact have a substantial and lasting adverse effect on the best interests of the child.

In re Marriage of Carney, 24 Cal. 3d 725, 736 (Cal. 1979) (emphasis added). The Chancellor in this case did exactly what the Court suggested in Carney. That is, he weighed all of the appropriate factors, including whether April's disability will actually have an effect on her ability to care for the children. The Court placed minimal reliance on the fact that April is somewhat limited because of her condition. This was but one factor used in making the custody determination just as contemplated by Carney.

Similarly, the Court in *Levin* stated that

Health or physical condition of the parents *may be taken into account* in determining whose custody would best serve the child's interests, but that ordinarily this factor was of minor importance and that the court must view the handicapped parent as an individual and the family as a whole.

In re Marriage of Levin, 102 Cal. App. 3d at 986 (emphasis added).

Again, the Chancellor's opinion completely conforms to the reasoning of *Levin*. The Chancellor considered April's disability and her limitations, but assigned this the most minor weight of all the *Albright* factors.<sup>3</sup>

It was not error for the Court to consider April's disability along with the other *Albright* factors, since a parent's disability is one of the enumerated *Albright* factors. It would have been error for the Chancellor to ignore April's disability. The Chancellor's conclusion that April's disability was at least a factor in her ability to care for the children was supported by overwhelming, if not undisputed, evidence in the record. The Chancellor assigned this factor the least weight in the *Albright* analysis, and relied on all of the factors in making the custody award. The Trial Court did not err in this regard.

# B. The Chancellor's factual finding that Ralph Watkins did not abuse the minor child was supported by overwhelming Record evidence.

April's Brief next claims the Chancellor erred by finding that paternal grandfather Ralph Watkins had not molested Kelsi and by not restricting Ralph Watkins' access to the children.

This Court, of course "does not reevaluate the evidence, retest the credibility of witnesses, nor otherwise act as a second fact-finder." *Bower v. Bower*, 758 So. 2d 405, 412 (Miss. 2000). The Chancellor's factual findings are affirmed so long as they are not "manifestly wrong" or "clearly erroneous." *Ferrara v. Walters*, 919 So. 2d 876, 881 (Miss. 2005). Regarding such factual findings, the Supreme Court has explained:

The trial judge saw these witnesses testify. Not only did he have the benefit of their words, he alone among the judiciary observed their manner and demeanor. He was there on the scene. He smelled the smoke of battle. He sensed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Quizzically, April's brief claims the Court erred in considering the guardian *ad litem's* report while discussing April's disability. The guardian *ad litem* recommended that custody be awarded to Jeremy. (R. p. 159). The guardian *ad litem* was appointed because of the allegations of sexual abuse by Ralph Watkins. (R. p. 184). The Court found, as a matter of fact, there had not been any sexual abuse by Ralph Watkins. (R. p. 184). Thus, the Court did not consider the guardian *ad litem's* report as to the remaining issues. (R. p. 185). Since the Chancellor expressly did not consider the guardian *ad litem's* recommendation, April's arguments in this regard are moot.

interpersonal dynamics between the lawyers and the witnesses and himself. These are indispensable.

Clark v. Clark, 754 So. 2d 450, 462 (Miss. 1999).

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